FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/16/2018 3:27 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

95864-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 761421

GREGORY AND JANETTE KOVSKY, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

v.

ROBERT FANFANT and MELANIE R. BISHOP, husband and wife, and KING COUNTY,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7583 Jacob Brooks, WSBA No. 48720 BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP 1424 Fourth Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 264-8600

Telephone: (206) 264-8600 Facsimile: (206) 264-9300 <u>bricklin@bnd-law.com</u> <u>brooks@bnd-law.com</u> Attorneys for Petitioners

I. INTRODUCTION

The statute of limitations in the Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA"), Ch. 36.70C RCW, is strictly applied to the point that appeal rights can be lost before effective notice is given. The question of whether the absence of effective notice creates a constitutional problem has been avoided in prior cases because this Court has found no private property rights were at stake, so due process did not apply. *Durland v. San Juan County*, 182 Wn.2d 55, 75, 340 P.3d 191 (2014) (no private property right created by county code); *Samuel's Furniture, Inc. v. State, Dept. of Ecology*, 147 Wn.2d 440, 463, 54 P.3d 1194 (2002) (government agency has no due process rights). Given the Court of Appeals decision below, this issue can no longer be avoided.

In this case, King County adopted an ordinance to protect neighbors from the adverse effects of constructing large communication towers (*e.g.*, Ham radio towers) in neighboring yards. If the tower is more than 60 feet tall, the King County Code requires a conditional use permit to assure that the proposed tower is necessary and, if so, that it is designed to avoid unnecessary impacts on the neighborhood.

But here the permitting system did not work as designed. The proponents of an 89-foot tall tower (respondents Robert Fanfant and Melanie Bishop) did not apply for a conditional use permit nor did the County require one. The County did not provide notice to the neighbors,

including petitioners Gregory and Janette Kovsky, that a conditional use permit would not be required. The neighbors' first notice was seeing the tower constructed. But by then, according to the Court of Appeals, it was too late to challenge the project because LUPA's 21-day statute of limitations had expired.

The Court of Appeals referenced a building permit that had been issued for the tower in its decision. On an obscure page of the County's website, the County posts monthly a spreadsheet of all permits issued by the County. Within that list of hundreds of permits was a line referencing a building permit issued to Fanfant. There is no indication in the record that the public is aware that the County maintains a spreadsheet of recently issued permits on its website. Even if such knowledge existed, the spreadsheet would not satisfy due process standards of notice reasonably calculated to alert impacted individuals that they had 21 days to file a judicial challenge. If that notice were deemed sufficient, every property owner in King County would need to review the list of hundreds of permits every month to determine if any permit had recently been issued that might impact their property rights. Providing a spreadsheet buried on the County's website is not notice reasonably calculated to alert property owners that their property rights might be impacted.

The Court of Appeals held that this notice was sufficient to satisfy LUPA's requirements.¹ In doing so, it relied on this Court's ruling in *Samuel's Furniture*, but the Court of Appeals overlooked that in *Samuel's Furniture*, this Court did not address the due process issue (because the entity that complained about a lack of effective notice was a government agency that had no due process rights).

Justice Chambers warned over a decade ago that this Court has "painted [itself] into a corner" when it comes to LUPA's statute of limitations. *Habitat Watch v. Skagit County*, 155 Wn.2d 397, 418, 120 P.3d 56 (2005) (Chambers, concurring). Here, the Court of Appeals misconstrued the import of language from this Court's decision in *Samuel's Furniture* and, thereby, crossed the line into unconstitutional territory. This Court should accept review to address this constitutional issue. The issue also is of substantial public import given the wide use of LUPA in resolving land use permitting disputes.

The Court of Appeals also determined that the County had properly decided that a conditional use permit was not necessary for this project. The

Similarly, the trial court's order notes that it was constrained by the strict application of LUPA's statute of limitations: "[g]iven controlling Supreme Court authority, Defendants' converted motions for summary judgment must be granted despite the County DPER's questionable decision to not require a conditional use permit (so as to allow for impacted neighbor input and consideration), and without providing actual notice to Plaintiffs." CP 357.

Fanfants have built an 89-foot tall, industrial style communication tower looming over the Kovskys' home and backyard. The Court of Appeals misconstrued the county code to eliminate the requirement that the project obtain a conditional use permit. According to the Court of Appeals, a private communication tower of any height could be built feet from a neighbor's property line with no review other than to assure it was structurally sound. Given that this code applies to all residential property throughout King County, the most populous county in the state, this code interpretation issue is of substantial public importance and provides independent cause for granting review.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Gregory and Janette Kovsky, appellants, are the party filing this petition for review.

III. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The decision at issue is the unpublished decision on the merits in *Kovsky v. Fanfant, et. al*, Case No. 76142-1-I (April 16, 2018).

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the constitutions of the State of Washington and the United States by depriving the Kovskys of their due process rights by applying LUPA's 21-

day statute of limitations to the Kovskys when they received no effective notice of the land use decision.

- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals decision presents an issue of substantial public interest because adjacent property owners are being denied the ability to seek judicial review under LUPA.
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals decision presents an issue of substantial public interest because the lower court's interpretation would allow for the development of private radio towers throughout all of King County's residential areas with no height restrictions.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gregory and Janette Kovsky have lived in their family home in the Hunterswood neighborhood near Redmond, Washington for over a decade. CP 37. The Kovskys were drawn to the quiet streets, strong community, and park-like setting of the backyard when they purchased their home in 2004. CP 38. The backyard quickly became a focal point of their home. *Id*.

Robert Fanfant and Melanie Bishop own the home behind the Kovskys. The backyards are adjacent. *Id.* Both lots are zoned RA-5 (which is a rural residential zone). *See* KCC 21A.04.060(A).

In January 2016, upon returning home from a walk in their large, planned neighborhood of well-maintained homes, the Kovskys discovered

that Fanfant had erected an 89-foot tall, metal latticework, industrial-style, tower utilized for amateur, otherwise known as Ham, radio transmissions. CP 39. *See* Appendix A. The sight of the completed tower was the first indication they had that Fanfant was constructing a tower. CP 41. The Kovskys had not received any notice prior to the tower's construction. *Id*.

The fully constructed tower has a significant visual impact upon the Kovskys' home and backyard. CP 40. The tower is situated in such a way on Fanfant's property so that the tower is actually closer to and more visible from the Kovskys' home than it is to Fanfant's home. CP 39. The industrial appearance of the tower clashes with the professionally landscaped and well-maintained backyard. *Id.* The large metal latticework structure of the tower destroys the serene views that the Kovskys once enjoyed. *Id.*

The regulations applicable to minor communication facilities restrict towers in the residential RA-5 zone to a height of 60 feet with a setback of either 50 feet or the height of the tower, whichever is greater. KCC 21A.27.030. If the proposed structure exceeds the height limit, then the applicant must obtain a conditional use permit before construction can begin. KCC 21A.27.020. The Fanfant tower is 89-feet tall and less than 89 feet from the Kovsky property. Unless the project is exempt from the requirements in chapter 21A.27 KCC, a conditional use permit was required.

The regulations for minor communication facilities are designed to protect neighbors from the aesthetic and other impacts of industrial-styled communication towers of unlimited height sprouting up in residential neighborhoods. Pre-application, a community meeting must be held where the applicant must provide information evaluating whether existing structures or alternative sites are available that could be used in lieu of a new tower. KCC 21A.27.010(B). Further, a "listing of the sites, identified in writing and provided to the applicant at or before the community meetings, shall be submitted to the [county] department with the proposed application. Applicants shall also provide a list of meeting attendees and those receiving mailed notice and a record of the published meeting notice at the time of application submittal." *Id*. The applicant also must provide a map showing all existing transmission support structures or suitable nonresidential structures where the applicant could "colocate" antennas, rather than building a new structure to support the antennae. 21A.27.080.

If co-location is not feasible, the applicant must take steps to minimize the visual intrusion of the new tower on the neighborhood. Minor communication facilities are subject to various visual compatibility standards, such as minimizing the appearance of antennae, designing the structure to blend with the existing surroundings to the maximum extent feasible, and consideration of means of screening the communications facility. *See* KCC 21A.27.040; -.050. This entire process is designed to protect the interests of property owners in the immediate vicinity of the proposed tower.

Fanfant did not apply for a conditional use permit. CP 378. Fanfant did not conduct a community meeting to receive input on the tower's location from neighboring landowners. CP 379. Nor did Fanfant submit an alternatives analysis to King County. CP 380. King County did not require Fanfant to apply for a conditional use permit, either. The County did not assess whether the tower was located and designed to minimize impacts on surrounding properties or satisfied height and setback requirements relevant to its code. Because the County did not require a conditional use permit, no notice of the pending building permit application was provided to the neighbors and there was no "land use decision" on compatibility issues that Kovskys could appeal under LUPA.²

The only approval Fanfant obtained was a building permit. A building permit ensures that structures meet requirements for physical integrity, but does not address land use compatibility. RCW 19.27.020.

See RCW 36.70C.030 (LUPA provides process for judicial review only of "land use decisions" as defined in the act); RCW 36.70C.020 ("land use decision" means "a final determination by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level of authority to make the determination . . .").

On July 7, 2015, King County issued the building permit to Fanfant for the Ham radio tower. CP 109-110. King County and Fanfant did not provide notice to the Kovskys or other neighbors. CP 379. Instead, the only mention of the building permit was in a spreadsheet of issued permits, accessible only on a page of King County's website. CP 288-322. Fanfant's building permit is referenced on Row 423 (out of 435 rows). CP 321. The spreadsheet does not mention a minor communications facility, a conditional use permit, or give any indication whether a decision had been made on a conditional use permit. *Id*.

Fanfant did not construct his tower until January 2016, so the Kovskys did not have visual notice of any land use decision until months after the building permit had been issued. After extensive efforts to have the County correct its mistake in allowing the tower to be built without a conditional use permit, the Kovskys filed this lawsuit, alleging that the tower constituted a nuisance *per se*. CP 283–284; CP 1–9.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Creates a Conflict with the Due Process Guarantees of the Washington and United States Constitutions.³

The Court of Appeals decision deprives the Kovskys of their due process rights. Rather than construe LUPA to avoid a constitutional problem, the Court of Appeals decision manufactures one. Washington courts "are obliged to construe [every] statute in a way that is consistent with its underlying purpose and *avoids constitutional deficiencies*." *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d 747, 755, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996) (emphasis supplied). The decision below violates this basic rule.

No person may be deprived of a constitutional or state-created property right without due process of law. *Mission Springs, Inc. v. City of Spokane*, 134 Wn.2d 947, 962, 954 P.2d 250 (1998). The first step in the analysis is whether the Kovskys have a property right protected by the Due Process Clause. It is well-established that a "zoning ordinance can create a property right." *Asche v. Bloomquist*, 132 Wn. App. 784, 798, 133 P.3d 475 (2006). The issue is whether the zoning code "requires the permitting authority to consider the views of neighboring property owners." *Durland, supra*, 182 Wn. 2d at 72.

Because the due process clauses of the two constitutions provide similar protections in this context, we construe the federal constitution protections only. *See State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

The development standards for minor communications facilities within the King County Code were unquestionably intended to benefit neighboring property owners and created a recognizable property right for the Kovskys. The code requires any applicant for a minor communication facility to mail individual notice to all property owners within five hundred feet of the site and hold a community meeting on the proposal, where neighbors can identify alternatives sites. KCC 21A.27.010(A)(2); (B). The development standards also impose several "visual compatibility standards" that explicitly require the applicant to minimize the ability to view the structure from "existing residences." KCC 21A.27.040; -050.4

Because the Kovskys possess a cognizable property interest, the next question for the Court is whether the Court of Appeals decision denies the Kovskys the procedural protections guaranteed by the federal constitution. The most basic tenet of due process is that citizens must have notice and an opportunity to oppose government actions that harm them. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 348 (1976). As this Court has held, "[o]ne of the basic touchstones of due process in any proceeding is notice

Thus, in *Asche*, the court found that a property right existed where the relevant zoning ordinance required consideration of the views of neighboring residences. 132 Wn. App. at 784. In contrast, the height restrictions in the county code in *Durland* made no reference to maintaining the neighbors' views and, therefore, did not create a private property right. 182 Wn.2d at 74 (height limits at issue "exist to protect public visual access, not private views").

reasonably calculated under all the circumstances to apprise affected parties of the pending action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections." *Barrie v. Kitsap County*, 84 Wn.2d 579, 585, 527 P.2d 1377 (1974).

The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "when notice is a person's due, process which is a mere gesture is not due process." Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 315 (1950). In Mullane, the court found notice by publication in a newspaper was inadequate for known beneficiaries of a common trust fund and that "[c]hance alone brings to the attention of a local resident an advertisement in small type inserted in the back pages of a newspaper . . ." Id. The Supreme Court concluded that the statutorily-required notice published in a newspaper for "known beneficiaries is inadequate, not because in fact it fails to reach everyone, but because under the circumstances it is not reasonably calculated to reach those who could easily be informed by other means at hand." *Id.* at 319. See also Jones v. Flowers, 547 U.S. 220 (2006) (merely publishing notice in newspaper without posting notice at address or taking other measures reasonably available to notify taxpayer of sale of property after mailed notice was returned violated due process); Passalino v. City of Zion, 237 Ill.2d118, 928 N.E.2d 814 (2010) (notice by publication was not reasonably calculated to inform plaintiffs of a proposed zoning map amendment when trustee of land could have been easily ascertained).

Likewise, in *Responsible Urban Growth Group v. City of Kent*, 123 Wn.2d 376, 868 P.2d 861 (1994), a city gave notice of a rezone by providing a vague reference to the rezone in the agenda of a city council meeting. Notice was not mailed to property owners surrounding the subject property nor was notice published in the newspaper of record. The court upheld the trial court's finding that the notice violated due process requirements. *Id.* at 386–387.

Here, the Court of Appeals has construed LUPA to trigger the statute of limitations at a time in the process that was "wholly inadequate for one whose first notice of a land use action is actual notice of work on the property." *Habitat Watch*, 155 Wn.2d at 420 (Chambers, concurring). At that point, in 21 days or less, the person "must discover what government action has been taken, arrange for representation, and determine the appropriate course of action to follow." *Id*.

The Kovskys did not receive effective notice of the building permit issued for the Fanfant tower. The grossly inadequate notice consisted of a reference to a building permit for an unspecified project on a spreadsheet within an obscure page of the County's website — a list that included hundreds of recently issued permits throughout the county, including a

summer picnic for a pediatric group, the installation of fire alarms and French doors, and, most commonly, the installation of furnaces, air conditioners, and heat pumps. CP 288–322. There is no reason for members of the public to review the list monthly (which is what would be required to spot a permit that might impact property rights and have time to obtain the permit, review the file, obtain legal counsel, and file a lawsuit within 21 days of the permit's issuance).

To meet constitutional muster, notice that merely complies with statutory notice requirements may not be sufficient. *Mullane*, 339 U.S. at 319. Thus, the Court of Appeals' reference to the county code proclamation that electronic notification "shall be deemed satisfactory" (Opinion at 5) misses the point. The constitution demands more.

When private property rights are at stake, the notice must be "reasonably calculated" to reach the people who may be impacted and provide them with sufficient information to protect their rights. *Mullane*, 339 U.S. at 314. Here, there simply are no facts to support a claim that listing the permit among hundreds of other permits on an obscure spreadsheet makes a reasonable effort to display permits for public notice in a way reasonably calculated to give notice to nearby property owners. The King County Code itself demonstrates that there are readily available, reasonable steps to notify affected property owners, such as neighborhood

meetings and individualized notice within 500 feet. KCC 21A.27.010(A)(2); (B); *Jones*, 547 U.S. at 234. But that kind of notice, reasonably calculated to reach the intended audience, was not provided here.

Either LUPA should be construed to cut off the Kovskys' rights only after adequate notice is provided or, if LUPA is being correctly construed to cut off an individual's property right without adequate notice, then the statute itself is unconstitutional. This court should accept review and either clarify the case law to avoid this unconstitutional result or hold that LUPA itself is unconstitutional, to the extent that it would cut off property owners' rights to protect their property interests without due process of law.

B. The Ability of Neighboring Property Owners to Appeal Land Use Decisions is of Substantial Public Interest.

Not only does this case create conflict with the constitutions of the State of Washington and the United States, but it also creates an issue of substantial public interest by considerably restricting the ability of neighboring property owners to challenge development that impacts their property rights.

The lower court's decision undermines LUPA's purpose to "establish[] uniform, expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing such decision, in order to provide consistent, predictable, and

timely judicial review." RCW 36.70C.010. One of LUPA's purposes is to provide citizens with the opportunity to appeal land use decisions that are contrary to law and do harm to their community. "Timely" judicial review does not mean that there should be no judicial review at all.

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