FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/15/2018 3:18 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95864-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

File No. 76142-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

GREGORY and JANETTE KOVSKY,

Appellants,

v.

ROBERT FANFANT and MELANIE BISHOP, and KING COUNTY,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS ROBERT FANFANT AND MELANIE BISHOP'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS KOVSKYS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

HELSELL FETTERMAN LLP

Andrew J. Kinstler, WSBA #12703 Debra M. Akhbari, WSBA #47500 1001 4th Ave., Ste. 4200 Seattle, Washington 98154 Ph: (206) 292-1144 Fax: (206) 340-0902

Attorneys for Respondents Fanfant and Bishop

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Kovskys Are Judicially Estopped From Challenging the Permit and Affirmatively Abandoned Any Claim Related to the Adequacy of Notice.

1. <u>The Kovskys' new challenge to the issuance of the Permit is</u> <u>inconsistent with the position they took in the trial court and</u> <u>at the Court of Appeals.</u>

In the trial court and at the Court of Appeals the Kovskys took the

position that they were not challenging the Permit. CP 35. As articulated by the Kovskys:

Fanfant and King County are correct that LUPA bars any challenge at this point to the *building permit* because the 21-day statute of limitations for *that permit* has already passed. . . . The Kovskys are bringing this challenge solely on the basis that Fanfant failed to obtain a *conditional use permit*.

CP 194.

The Kovskys took the same position in the Court of Appeals, conceding that, to the extent the Kovskys previously sought to challenge the Permit, they had "abandoned their claim that the building code permit was issued in error early in the litigation." Reply Brief of Appellants at 8 n. 2. The Kovskys argument on appeal was that **LUPA did not apply** because no land use decision had been made with respect to a CUP. Now, however, the Kovskys' entire basis for seeking review of the Court of Appeals' decision is the claim that the "Kovskys did not receive effective notice of the building permit issued for the Fanfant tower." Petition for Review at 13.

Judicial estoppel focuses on three factors: (1) whether a later position is clearly inconsistent with an earlier position, (2) whether acceptance of the later inconsistent position would create the perception that either the first or the second court was misled, and (3) whether the assertion of the inconsistent position would prejudice the opposing party. *Anfinson*

10

v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 861, 281 P.3d 289 (2012) (citations and quotation marks omitted). These factors require the application of estoppel in this case. First, the Kovskys' position that notice of the Permit was ineffective or inadequate is inconsistent with their position in the trial court and in the Court of Appeals that they were not challenging the Permit. The Kovskys affirmatively stated they had "abandoned their claim that the building code permit was issued in error early in the litigation." Reply Brief of Appellants at 8 n. 2. Only now do the Kovskys argue that they "did not receive effective notice of the building permit issued for the Fanfant tower[]" thereby depriving them of due process. Petition for Review at 13. Their position is in direct contradiction to the position they took in every other court and proceeding.

Second, by taking this new position, the Kovskys appear to have misled the trial court, the Court of Appeals, and appear to be attempting to mislead *this* Court. The record demonstrates that the Kovskys affirmatively abandoned any challenge to the Permit, including the adequacy of notice, arguing that LUPA's applicability to this case and due process considerations are not relevant to the issuance of the Permit. *See* CP 349. It is only before this Court, in hopes it will advance their objective to overturn LUPA completely, that the Kovskys now challenge the Permit and raise due process arguments. Finally, Fanfant and Bishop would be prejudiced if the Court allows the Kovskys to take this new position. Although the Kovskys' new argument fails as a matter of law, Fanfant and Bishop would be prejudiced if the Court allows the Kovskys to change theories as they will not have been provided with the opportunity to conduct discovery related to the Kovskys' new theory. Further, Fanfant and Bishop will be forced to incur tremendous expense in defending a claim the Kovskys never argued below. The Kovskys are judicially estopped from challenging the Permit.

2. <u>The Kovskys abandoned any claim to insufficient notice of the Permit.</u>

The Kovsky filed this lawsuit on February 22, 2016, and have been given ample opportunity to pursue a challenge to the Permit or the argument that notice was insufficient. Instead, they strategically "abandoned their claim that the building code permit was issued in error early in the litigation." Reply Brief of Appellants at 8 n. 2. This argument was consistent with one they took at the trial court: that issuance of the Permit and due process considerations were not relevant to the issuance of the Permit. CP 349. Thus, the Kovskys waived, or in their own words, "abandoned," their claim relating to the adequacy of notice by not to presenting it in the trial court or before the Court of Appeals.

B. LUPA Does Not Require That A Party Receive Individualized Notice.

1. <u>The Kovskys seek to change established law by requesting</u> <u>this Court adopt an actual, individualized notice standard</u> <u>for LUPA actions.</u>

The Kovskys urge this Court to grant review in order to "clarify the case law" regarding the notice requirements under LUPA and find that individual notice is required before the 21-day statute of limitations begins to run. Petition for Review at 15. In the alternative, the Kovskys argue review is warranted to allow this Court to hold LUPA unconstitutional. Petition for Review at 15. The Kovskys seek to upend established precedent and the Legislature's stated purpose of LUPA.

The Land Use Petition Act (LUPA), chapter 36.70C RCW, governs judicial review of land use decisions. *Durland v. San Juan County*, 182 Wn.2d 55, 62, 340 P.3d 191 (2014); RCW 36.70C.030. The purpose of LUPA is to provide uniform and expedited appeal procedures for judicial review of land use decision made by local jurisdictions. *Habitat Watch*, *155* Wn.2d 397, 406, 120 P.3d 56 (2005); RCW 36.70C.010. "To serve the purpose of timely review, LUPA provides stringent deadlines, requiring that a petitioner file a petition for review within 21 days of the date of the land use decision." *Asche v. Bloomquist*, 132 Wn. App. 784, 785, 133 P.3d 475 (2006), *as amended* (Apr. 4, 2006). *See* RCW 36.70C.040(3) (a petition is

timely "if it is filed and served on all parties . . . within twenty-one days of the issuance of the land use decision.")

By statute, the date on which a land use decision is "issued" is generally determined as either (1) three days after a written decision is mailed by the local jurisdiction or, if not mailed, the date on which the local jurisdiction provides notice that a written decision is publicly available; (2) the date the legislative body passes the ordinance or resolution if the land use decision is made by ordinance; or (3) the date the decision is entered into the public record. RCW 36.70C.040(4)(a)-(c). As this Court has explained: "even illegal decisions must be challenged in a timely, appropriate manner." *Habitat Watch*, 155 Wn.2d at 407 (holding LUPA's 21-day appeal period barred a citizens' group challenge to a construction project despite the fact the county failed to provide notice regarding hearing on permit extensions). *See also Durland*, 182 Wn.2d at 68.

This Court has previously addressed the issue of notice under LUPA and held that individual notice is not required stating that "LUPA does not require that a party receive individualized notice of a land use decision in order to be subject to the time limits for filing a LUPA petition." *Samuel's Furniture*, 147 Wn.2d at 462. Rather, as this Court has made clear, "LUPA seems to merely require that a local jurisdiction provide general public notice by virtue of publication of the land use decision." *Samuel's* *Furniture*, 147 Wn.2d at 462.

Here, the KCC requires published notice of Type 1 decisions, such

as building permits:

Not later than January 1, 2013, the department shall provide public notice of Type 1 decisions for which a notice of application is not otherwise required under K.C.C. 20.20.060. The public notice may be provided electronically. The notice provided under this section shall be considered supplementary to any other notice requirements and shall be deemed satisfactory despite the failure of one or more individuals to receive notice.

KCC 20.20.062. The Kovskys agree that the Permit was issued on July 7, 2015 (CP 373), and that King County posted notice on its website that the Permit had been issued (CP 230-265). Therefore, the Kovskys concede that the Permit was issued and that King County provided notice to the general public that King County issued the Permit. However, the Kovskys argue that they were entitled to individualized notice of the Permit before the 21 days began to run. The Court of Appeals was correct to reject this argument.

The Kovskys' argument that the statute of limitations does not start to run until a party receives individual notice would require this Court to create a dangerous new standard. Under the Kovskys' theory, a land use decision would be subject to challenge indefinitely by any person who claims he/she/they did not receive individual notice. Such an outcome has the potential to result in never-ending litigation and will undermine the

stated purpose of LUPA:

The purpose of this chapter is to reform the process for judicial review of land use decisions made by local jurisdictions, by establishing uniform, expedited appeal procedures and uniform criteria for reviewing such decisions, in order to provide consistent, predictable, and timely judicial review.

RCW 36.70C.010. See Durland, 182 Wn.2d at 59-60 (stating the Supreme

Court "has faced numerous challenges to statutory time limits for appealing land use decision and has repeatedly concludes that the rules must provide certainty, predictability, and finality for land owners and the government.")

Actual, individual notice of a land use decision is not required under LUPA, and the Supreme Court has unequivocally rejected challenges claiming otherwise. *See Habitat Watch*, 155 Wn.2d at 408-09; *Samuel's Furniture*, 147 Wn.2d at 462. The Kovskys' request to change established law and create a new standard should be rejected.

2. <u>Even if this Court were to overrule established precedent</u> and hold LUPA requires individual notice, the outcome of this case would be unchanged as the Kovskys failed to file their LUPA Petition within 21-days of receiving actual notice.

Even if the Court is inclined to consider the Kovskys' notice argument and restrict the running of the 21-day statute of limitations to the date from which the Kovsky had actual notice of the Permit, the Kovskys' claims are still barred. It is undisputed that by January 26, 2016 the Kovskys had actual notice of the Permit. CP 434, 443. The Kovsky filed a code enforcement complaint that day, only to learn that Code Enforcement had already investigated the matter and determined the Antenna was "allowed and all required permits and approvals were obtained." CP 419. Despite having this information, the Kovskys waited until February 22—27 days receiving actual notice of the Permit—to file a LUPA Petition. CP 1-6. Even if the Court applies an actual notice standard, the Kovskys argument still fails because they failed to challenge the Permit and King County's decision not to require a CUP within 21 days of receiving actual notice. As the Court of Appeals properly held, the Kovskys' claims are time barred.

C. King County's Zoning Ordinance Exempts Licensed Amateur Radio Stations from the Development Standards of "Communication Facilities."

Finally, separate and apart from the application of LUPA's 21-day statute of limitations, the Kovskys' entire due process argument is based upon the faulty premise that the King County zoning ordinance required Mr. Fanfant to obtain a CUP for his Antenna. The Kovskys misinterpret the King County Code which carefully and unambiguously exempts licensed amateur radio stations from the CUP process. *See* KCC 21A.26.020(G).

Title 21A of the KCC regulates zoning. *See generally* KCC 21A. Chapter 21A.26 regulates "towers and antennas" associated with ALL "communication facilities." *See* KCC 21A.26.030 ("All communication facilities that are not exempt under K.C.C. 21A.26.020 shall comply with this chapter") As set forth at the beginning of 21A.26.010:

The purpose of this chapter is to establish guidelines for the siting of towers and antennas. (Emphasis added).

<u>All</u> "communication facilities" identified within **Title 21A**, including minor communication facilities, are initially subject to regulation under chapter 21A.26. *See* KCC 21A.26.030.

Under KCC 21A.26.020(G), "Licensed amateur (Ham) radio stations" are exempt from the provisions regulating "towers and antennas," and Ham radio stations are "permitted in all zones." KCC 21A.26.030 then sets forth the applicability of KCC 21A.26:

Applicability. The standards and process requirements of this chapter [regulating towers and antennas] supersede all other review process, setback or landscaping requirements of this **title**. All communication facilities **that are not exempt** under K.C.C. 21A.26.020 shall comply with this chapter as follows...

KCC 21A.26.030 (bold added). Consistent with King County's interpretation, the Court of Appeals properly found that the exemption in KCC 21A.26.020(G) exempts a "tower and antenna" for licensed amateur radio from regulation under Title 21A. Opinion at 8. The Court determined that "while Ham radio towers are two-way radio facilities, they are specifically excluded from the regulations for minor communication

facilities." Opinion at 8. The Court concluded that "[c]ompliance with the standards of chapters 21A.26 and 21A.27 KCC applies only to communication facilities that are *not* exempt under KCC 21A.26.020." Opinion at 9. The Court of Appeals further concluded that "[a]s an exempt facility, Ham radio stations are not required to comply with the standards for minor communication facilities outlined in KCC 21A.26.030(D)." Opinion at 9.

However, the Kovskys continue to argue that the exemption under KCC 21A.26.020(G) only applies to provisions of KCC chapter 21A.26 and that Fanfant was required to comply with the development standards for a "tower and antenna" associated with a minor communication facility under chapter 21A.27. The Court *expressly rejected* this argument stating "this argument ignores the language of 21A.26.030." Opinion at 9.

The Kovskys' desire to change the King County Code, and their hypothetical argument that King County could approve a tower over 500 feet, is an issue for the Kovskys to address with the King County Counsel, not this Court. The Court of Appeals correctly applied the law to the facts of this case in holding Mr. Fanfant's Antenna was exempt from regulation as a minor communication facility.

D. Fanfant and Bishop Request An Award Of Attorney Fees.

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), "[i]f attorney fees and expenses are

awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney fees and expenses may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition."

Fanfant and Bishop prevailed at the trial court and at the Court of Appeals. Pursuant to RCW 4.84.370(1), the Court of Appeals awarded Fanfant all fees incurred on appeal. If this Court denies the Kovskys' Petition for Review, Fanfant and Bishop request an award of attorney fees.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals applied the law to the facts of this case and was correct to affirm the trial court's Order granting summary judgment to Fanfant. The Court should deny the Kovskys' Petition for Review.